The effect of labour taxation on the employment level

- A SWEDISH STUDY USING AN INSTRUMENTAL VARIABLES APPROACH

MASTERS THESIS I AUGUST 2015



Supervisor: Martin Nordin Author: Zeinab Kassab

ABSTRACT

Over the past decade an increase in labour taxation reforms have been observed across several countries. The main target of these reforms has generally been to encourage labour supply among different groups. In the case of Sweden, an earned income tax credit was introduced in 2007 and reinforced in 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011 as a measure to deal with the high unemployment level. The relationship between labour taxation and the employment level might thus suffer from bias due to reverse causality.

This paper examines the relationship between the income taxation rate and the employment level in Sweden, using panel data of Sweden's municipalities over the time period 1993-2013. To overcome the endogeneity problems, an Instrumental Variable model has been used where the averaged neighbouring municipalities' tax rates act as an instrument. The results suggest that the income taxation rate has a negative effect on the employment level, where the Instrumental Variable model presents an almost twice as high effect in comparison to the OLS results.

KEY WORDS: Labour taxation, employment level, Swedish municipalities, Instrumental Variable, panel data.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	3-4
2. LABOUR TAXATION AND ENDOGENEITY	5-8
2.1 TAX WEDGES AND INCOME TAXATION 2.2 THE SWEDISH EARNED INCOME TAX CREDIT 2.3 ENDOGENEITY OF TAXATION	5-7 7 8
3. PREVIOUS RESEARCH	9-11
4. ECONOMETRICAL METHOD	12-15
4.1 METHOD 4.2 SELECTING AN INSTRUMENT 4.2 FIXED EFFECTS OLS MODEL 4.2 INSTRUMENTAL VARIABLES MODEL	12 12-13 14 14-15
5. DATA	16-17
5.1 SAMPLE AND DATA	16-17
6. RESULTS	18-24
6.1 OLS MODEL 6.2 FIRST STAGE RESULTS 6.3 SECOND STAGE RESULTS 6.4 ROBUSTNESS	18-19 20 21-22 22-24
7. DISCUSSION	25-27
7.1 GENERAL DISCUSSION 7.2 IMPLICATIONS FOR POLICYMAKERS 7.3 TIME-LINE CONSIDERATIONS 7.4 SAMPLE SIZE AND VARIABLES	25-26 26-27 27 27
8. CONCLUSION	28
9. FUTURE RESEARCH	29-30
9.1 SUGGESTED IMPROVEMENTS FOR SIMILAR STUDIES 9.2 OTHER AREAS OF STUDY	29 29-30
BIBLIOGRAPHY	31-34

1. INTRODUCTION

Rising unemployment levels in countries around the world have enforced discussions regarding labour taxation and the role that policies play to curb these rising levels. Labour taxation has not only been a central subject for economic researchers but also a controversial topic for political parties. Estimating the relationship between labour taxation and employment has been on the agenda for several decades (Pencavel, 1986; Blundell & MaCurdy, 1999).

By creating a wedge between the employer's labour cost and the equivalent net pay for the worker, the taxation on labour reduces the amount of labour supplied.

In the past decade several OECD countries have been confronted with these rising unemployment levels and have been forced to implement different policies in order to battle higher unemployment levels. One method that has been frequently turned to is the implementation of an income tax credit.

Examples of this include the Earned Income Tax Credit in the US which first was enacted in 1975 and further expanded in 1986, 1990, 1993, 2001 and 2009 (Hamad & Rehkopf, 2015). In addition to the EITC in the US, several other countries have enforced a similar tax credit, for instance the Working Tax Credit in the UK (Azmat, 2014), Jobbskatteavdraget in Sweden (Regeringens proposition (2006/07:1) and the Working Income Tax Benefit in Canada (Government of Canada, 2015) to name a few.

These countries are clear examples of policy makers adjusting taxation policies on the basis of the prevalent employment situation. As the taxation policies are assumed to response to the employment level in the country, there is a risk of reverse causality occurring, which would result in biased estimates if not accounted for.

It is of upmost importance to fully understand the relationship between the labour taxation and the labour market and in particular the effect that it has on the employment level. By enhancing the understanding of this relationship, tools can be created for policy makers to improve the effects of policies targeting these certain groups.

The main purpose of this paper is to examine the relationship between the income taxation rate and the employment level in Sweden. By the means of a panel data set of

the Swedish municipalities, this relationship will be estimated using the municipality tax rate, meaning that it is the change in the proportional tax that will be studied. This estimation will be completed using a fixed effects OLS model as well as an Instrumental Variable model. To instrument for the municipality tax, an averaged sum of all the neighbouring municipalities' tax rates will be used.

This study contributes to the existing research that has turned to the use of panel data to shed light on the patters of employment within Sweden. A great deal of focus within the previous literature has been put on the effects that macroeconomic shocks and labour market institutions have on the employment level. In opposition, this thesis builds on the studies that focus on the effects of fiscal policy. Nonetheless, the largest contribution of this present study is towards the research area of endogeneity within taxation. Bearing in mind that this is a fairly un-researched area, the hopes of developing a method towards a better handling of endogeneity is great.

The paper is structured as follows. Section 2 provides an overview of the theory behind labour taxation and its effect on employment. The subsequent Section 3 offers an overview of the existing literature and empirical studies within the field. The methodology used in this paper is thereafter outlined in Section 4 followed by a description of the data set in Section 5. The empirical results are presented and discussed in Section 6 and Section 7 followed by concluding remarks and suggestions for future studies in Section 8 and Section 9.

2. LABOUR TAXATION AND ENDOGENEITY

2.1 TAX WEDGES AND INCOME TAXATION

According to the OECD definition, a tax wedge is defined as: "the ratio between the amount of taxes paid by an average single worker (a single person at 100% of average earnings) without children and the corresponding total labour cost for the employer. The average tax wedge measures the extent to which tax on labour income discourages employment. This indicator is measured in percentage of labour costs." (OECD, 2015). Thus the tax wedge includes the personal income tax.

The question of labour taxation and to which extent it affects the employment level has as previously mentioned been a widely discussed topic and as can be seen from the definition of OECD, tax wedges can be viewed as discouraging employment. The negative correlation is thought to emerge as labour taxation reduces the supply of labour which as a result leads to an increase in the unemployment level (Vodopivec, 2005). In the recent decade, several OECD countries have begun a reduction in tax wedges with the purpose of improving the unemployment level as well as encouraging job creation (OECD, 2006).

The taxation of labour is not solely affecting the supply side of the labour market but also the demand side. The demand for labour decreases if the tax results in an increase in labour costs. There are two main causes for this, either if the levied tax falls on the employers and there is no possibility of passing it onto the employed workers, or if the levied tax falls on the employed workers and they have the opportunity of passing it onto their employers in order to keep their real consumption wage (Rutkowski & Walewski, 2007).

Accordingly, the supply of labour decreases if the levied tax falling on the workers results in a lower real consumption wage, as the workers are incapable of counteracting it with proportionately higher wages. In addition, a reduction in labour supply is also expected if the levied tax falls on the employers and they successfully pass it onto the employees through lower wages. Altogether, adding the outcomes of the decrease in labour demand together with the decrease in labour supply the finishing result is a lower employment level.

Labour taxation and its effect on employment is determined by two essential factors, namely the labour market institutions and the individual's preferences, that is, the dominant effect of the income- and substitution effects. In a case of high unemployment and limited work opportunities, the negotiating power of employers becomes higher than usual as well as weaker than usual for employees. This state causes the employees to bear the incidence of the tax. However, in the opposite case with several work vacancies being hard to fill, the negotiating power falls on the employees instead which naturally indicates that the incidence of the tax will be borne by the employers (Rutkowski & Walewski, 2007).

Additional factors that impact the negotiating power of the employers and the employees are the labour market institutions where the presence of for instance trade unions, fixed minimum wages and employment protection legislation raise the negotiating power of employees as well as their possibility of passing the tax incidence onto the employers. Labour costs generally increase as a consequence of labour market institutions, and the employment level pays the price for the maintenance of wages. Classically, a more elastic labor demand results in a smaller effect of a payroll tax on aggregate labour costs and on the other hand a larger effect on wages and employment. Moreover, a more elastic labour supply produces a larger impact on employment and less on wages (Rutkowski & Walewski, 2007).

(Rutkowski & Walewski, 2007) sum up the implications as follows:

Increasing labour taxation can as a temporary disequilibrium cause growth in unemployment up to the point when wages adjust to the decreased demand. On the contrary, a permanent decrease in employment will be produced provided that the negative labour demand is not compensated by an equal positive demand shift, for instance by greater labour productivity and hence a decrease in unit labour cost.

In the short run, provided that the demand and supply of labour is subject to inelasticity, an increase in the labour taxation schedule is expected to have a restricted effect on employment. A greater part of the effect is expected to fall on the wages, and if the incidence falls on the workers or employers is contingent on the elasticity of labor demand and labour supply. However, in the long run a growing tax on labour will have a

larger negative effect on employment as firms discover means to substitute capital for more costly labour.

The largest impact on employment followed by an increase in labour taxation will fall on groups for which the demand for labour is the most elastic. Included in these groups are low-skilled workers, young and older workers as well as women. This impact will be further intensified if the supply of labour in these groups has a high elasticity.

In the instance of labour market regulations and strong trade unions which limit downward pressure on wage modification, the negative impact that payroll taxes have on employment will strengthen.

A further aspect that needs to be taken into account is that a higher tax on labour increases the relative cost of formal employment in regards to informal and untaxed employment. Consequently, there is an expected decrease in formal employment in favor for an increased informal employment. This potential effect is of upmost importance to fiscal policy as an increase in informal employment would imply lower tax revenues.

Last of all, an increase in the taxation of labour shifts consumption from the private sector to the public sector. An effect following this shift is of work opportunities, referring to the movement of private jobs to public. For that reason a common act by governments to encourage work incentives is to shift taxation of labour to consumption taxes (Pestel & Sommer, 2013).

2.2 SWEDISH EARNED INCOME TAX CREDIT

In order to battle high unemployment levels and strengthen labour supply, modern tax policy has turned to the usage of in-work tax subsidies. The most prominent examples being the Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC) in the US as well as the equivalent UK version of the Working Families Tax Credit (WFTC). The Swedish counterpart, Jobbskatteavdraget, was set into action in 2007 with the intention of improving employment. With a purpose of offering enhanced incentives for individuals to move from unemployment to as a minimum, part-time work (Prop. 2006/07:1). These

enhanced work incentives were expected to be reached by the means of decreasing marginal tax rates on labour for low and middle-income earners.

2.3 ENDOGENEITY OF TAXATION

Endogeneity issues are caused when a variable in a regression is determined by other elements in the regression, indicating that there exists a correlation between either the covariate and the error term or the other variables. Reverse causality is one of the most typical causes of endogeneity (Kennedy, 2008).

Within the research area of employment and taxation, the existing macro literature rarely discusses the potential endogeneity issues with the most common determining variables. The taxation schedules and the factors driving alterations within these are frequently associated with further changes in the economy and to identify a causal effect of taxation on employment one need an exogenous variation in the tax rate.

As previously mentioned, the aim of the Swedish EITC was to boost employment, which accordingly is a shared aim for municipalities while altering tax rates. Taxation is often used as an instrument to tackle the incentives of individuals and hence acts as a steering wheel. This is a great indicator of labour taxation being a candidate of suffering from reverse causality. Hence the OLS estimates run a risk of being affected by omitted variables bias and reverse causality. In accordance with this, the potential endogeneity needs to be adjusted for.

A common method of handling endogeneity is by the means of an Instrumental Variables model. This model entails the discovery and use of an instrumental variable instead of the endogenous variable, and hence escapes the problems with reverse causality. This is the path that this paper will follow and the method will be discussed in more detail further ahead.

3. PREVIOUS RESEARCH

To provide an overview of previous research within this field of study this section will present a number of studies made within the area.

Studying the relationship between labour taxation and employment can be done in numerous ways, with the largest difference laying in the choice of variables. One popular method is by using the tax wedge as the chosen labour taxation variable. One of which is the study by (Dolenc & Laporsek, 2010) that examine the effect of the tax wedge on the employment growth in 27 EU member states. Using a panel data set stretching over the period 1999-2008 the authors find that the negative relationship between the tax wedge and employment was confirmed, where a one percentage point increase in the tax wedge reduces the employment growth by around 0.04 percentage points.

Similarly, (Nickell, 2003) chooses to use the tax wedge to study its relationship to employment; however this study focuses on the effect that the tax wedge has on the incentives to work. This paper is also based on a selection of OECD countries. The author finds that a 10 per cent increase in the tax wedge is associated with a two per cent reduction in labour input.

Contrary to the previously mentioned studies, (Mojsoska-Blazevski, 2012) finds that the income tax wedge for the years 1998-2010 does not have a significant effect on the employment rate in Macedonia. As this result is quite unanticipated the author argues that in this case the burden of the taxation might have fallen on the employees in the form of lower wages which discourages labour supply.

Even though there are mixed results across countries, a majority of the studies appear to find a negative relationship between labour taxation and employment as theory predicts, see for example (Faria, 2004; Pissarides, 1998).

In addition to these papers that explore the relationship between labour taxation and its effect on employment, a new supplement has been added within this field and departs from the theory of taxation being endogenous in the labour market framework. Endogeneity of taxation is still a rather unsearched area, though there are a couple of

studies that have proceeded from this theory of endogeneity and have chosen to overcome these issues by the means of an Instrumental Variables model.

One paper in particular has inspired the writing of this current study and is by (Lehmann et al., 2013) and examines the unemployment-reducing effect of tax progressivity. The paper includes a panel of 21 OECD countries over the time range of 1998-2008. Despite that (Lehmann et al., 2013) mainly focus in presenting a larger progressive tax schedule and its raise on the employment rate, they nonetheless discuss and account for the potential endogeneity of taxation. The authors tackle the endogeneity issues by the means of an instrumental variables approach where the tax wedge and tax progressivity are instrumented with a sample of variables including: a measure of the political orientation of the parliament, an index of distrust in civil services as well as a narrative record for the tax components of fiscal consolidation policies. The authors interpret the variation between the OLS estimates and the IV estimates as a confirmation that reverse causality presents an attenuation bias.

In similarity to the previous study, (Duncan & Peter, 2008) have identified the potential endogeneity within the taxation schedule. In contrast to the present study and other studies within the area of taxation and employment, (Duncan & Peter, 2008) examine the reverse causality between the progressivity of income taxation and income inequality. This study is based on a large panel of countries over the period of 1981-2005. Nonetheless, the authors choose to overcome the endogeneity problems with the use of an IV model. To instrument for the countries' tax progressivity schedules the authors use the neighbouring countries' distance-population weighted averages of tax progressivity measures. This paper has also worked as a building block for the present study regarding the choice of instrument and will be discussed in more detail further ahead. Hence, the method of which the authors have used in their paper is of more relevance to this study than their actual topic.

The aim of this study is to not solely build on the existing research within the area of labour taxation and employment but perhaps first and foremost to add to the literature of endogeneity within taxation. By continuing the path of using an IV model to overcome endogeneity, the ambition is to further develop the selection of good instruments and to

enable an additional analysis of whether or not this trail ought to be followed in future studies.

4. ECONOMETRICAL METHOD

4.1 METHOD

To enable an empirical analysis on the effect of labour taxation on the employment level in Sweden, a panel covering 283 of Sweden's 290 municipalities has been collected over a time range of 21 years. This kind of panel data requires a fixed effects estimator for various reasons. The most prominent reason being the need to control for the effects of time-invariant variables affecting the municipalities by using time-invariant effects, in addition to including time fixed effects. Hence, this unobserved heterogeneity can be controlled when it is constant over time and correlated with the independent variables (Williams, 2015).

Furthermore, a panel of this sort is likely to suffer from certain problems concerning the standard errors. (Grassmueck, 2011) claims that the use of aggregate data can result in a state where the residuals do not satisfy the independence assumption. He argues that the residuals are expected to be positively correlated and therefore suggests the use of cluster-correction of the standard errors to solve for this problem. Hence, the models used will have clustered standards errors. A log-linear approach is taken which will result in the following interpretation: a unit change in the tax-variable explaining a percentage change in the employment level.

Two different methods will be used to estimate the causal relationship between labour taxation and the employment level. The first model used is a fixed effects OLS model with no modifications made to account for the potential endogeneity problems. The second model used is a fixed effects Instrumental Variables model, departing from the theory of taxation being endogenous to employment variables. Estimating both an OLS model and an IV model allows for a comparison to be made between the models, where a discussion of the potential size and direction of the bias is enabled.

4.2 SELECTING AN INSTRUMENT

The consistency of the instrumental variable model is immensely reliant on the instruments chosen for estimation and their validity. Hence, the selection of a proper

instrument is crucial and one of the most important parts of the analysis (Veerbeck, 2012).

In this framework there appears to be several potential candidates to instrument the tax rate. (Lehmann et al, 2013) instrument the tax wedge and tax progressivity by using a narrative record for the tax components of fiscal consolidation policies, a measure of the political orientation of the parliament and an index of distrust in civil services. As (Lehmann et al, 2013) have a panel set consisting of a range of OECD countries, some variables included in their study are clearly unsuitable for the present analysis. Nonetheless, a political variable indicating which wing a municipality belongs to could for a few reasons be considered a candidate to instrument the tax rates. However, due to data limitations and the possibility of municipalities forming party—transcendent agreements, this path was not followed.

(Duncan & Peter, 2008) have likewise identified the endogeneity within tax schedules in an alternative context. This study proceeds from the theory of tax competition in which countries compete for the tax base. This is also the theory of which I will progress this study, by developing it to cover municipalities instead of countries and applying it to the present model. Here it is assumed that tax schedules in country X are correlated with tax schedules in the neighbouring country Y. The intuition behind this theory originates in the thought of countries competing for employees by the means of the tax schedule. Seeing as the employment level in country X is not expected to have an autonomous effect on the tax schedule in country Y, the instrument and the other elements of the regression can be assumed to be uncorrelated.

Using this method, the neighbouring municipalities' taxation rates act as instruments to enable an identification of the causal relationship between tax rates on the employment level. If the correlation between the taxation rates of neighbouring municipalities is high enough and the IV model thus has a strong first stage, it would indicate that it is a valid instrument to precede the analysis with (Bascle, 2008).

4.3 OLS MODEL

The OLS model used in this study is presented as equation (1) below:

$$Ln emp_{it} = \alpha_i + \gamma_t + \beta_1 tax_{it} + \beta_2 X_{it} + u_{it}$$
(1)

Ln emp_{it} is a logged employment variable, α_i is the unobserved time-invariant individual effect, Υ_t is the time fixed effect, the tax variable represents the labour tax of the various municipalities over time, X_{it} is a vector of control variables described in section 5 along with a further explanation of all the variables.

4.4 INSTRUMENTAL VARIABLES MODEL

To account for the endogeneity in the taxation variable, the use of the neighboring municipalities' taxation schedules will act as instruments. In order to generate this instrumental variable, an average tax rate is calculated for each municipality based on the neighboring municipalities' tax schedules.

The instrumental variable estimation is made up of two equations, namely the first stage and the second stage. Estimating the first stage equation entails regressing the instrumental variable on the endogenous variable and the other control variables. This is done in order to demonstrate the relationship between these variables. For this method to be successful and offer consistent estimates, it is of upmost importance that there exists a strong first stage (Verbeek, 2012). In the context of this study, the average tax rate of the neighboring municipalities must have a strong impact on the endogenous variable, that is, the own municipalities tax rate. In the second stage, the employment level is regressed upon the first stage prediction of the labour taxation rate.

The first stage equation is specified as equation (2) below:

$$Tax_{it} = \alpha_i + \gamma_t + \beta_1 avg_t tax_{it} + \beta_2 X_{it} + u_{it}$$
(2)

The second stage equation is specified as equation (3) below:

$$Ln \ emp_{it} = \alpha_i + \gamma_t + \beta_1 \ Predicted \ tax_{it} + \beta_2 \ X_{it} + u_{it}$$
(3)

As the OLS model in this study is assumed to be biased due to reverse causality, it is of interest to discuss in which direction this bias might go. If the OLS model is not able to measure the full effect of labour taxation on the employment level due to endogeneity, then there would be a downward bias on the OLS estimates of β , implying that the OLS results are underestimated compared to the Instrumental Variable models results. However this bias might just as well go in the opposite direction due to other causes and measurement errors resulting in an upward bias and overestimated OLS estimates of β .

5.1 SAMPLE AND DATA

The panel used in this analysis has sampled yearly data ranging from 1993 to 2013, covering 283 of the 290 Swedish municipalities. Data for all the variables included in the panel have been collected from the database Statistics Sweden.

Due to changes to the municipalities in year 1999, some alterations were made to the municipality codes as well as the formation of a new municipality. The municipality Knivsta was dropped from the sample as its existence has only been covering roughly half the time series. A number of municipalities consist of islands which hinder the formation of good instrumental variables in these cases; as a result these municipalities were also dropped from the sample.

The employment level has been chosen as the dependent variable. This variable has been transformed in natural logarithms for the regression analysis as this variable is measured as the amount of employed in the various municipalities. Using a log-linear model is beneficial for several reasons. One of which is for the simplification of the interpretation, as a unit increase of X leads to a β per cent change in Y.

To enable an analysis of the effect of labour taxation on the employment level in municipalities, the variable chosen to represent labour taxation must be chosen with care. As the tax schedules in the municipalities can be calculated in a couple of ways the most important question relates to the inclusion of the county tax. Consequently, in order to distinguish the effects of the municipalities, the selected tax schedule is solely made up from the municipality tax.

Using the logarithm of employment generates a need of controlling for the labour force. As a proxy for the labour force level the total population between the ages 20 to 64, in each municipality has been added.

Other factors that might have an effect on the tax schedule and thus on the employment level are the municipalities' needs for various expenses such as childcare and old-age care. Hence, important variables to control for are the amount of young and old in the

municipalities respectively. The variable for the amount of young is the sum of inhabitants between 0-19 and 65- correspondingly for the old.

An additional variable controlled for is the total municipality expenses. This variable is the sum of the following expenses: political activities, infrastructure, culture, recreational activities, preschool and school expenses, education, geriatric- and handicap care, individual- and family care, certain directed contributions and business expenses. This variable however is not available for the entire time series, so it will only be included in the sub sample regressions.

6. RESULTS

6.1 OLS MODEL

The estimation results from equation 1 are presented in Table 1 below. The entire timeseries as well as numerous sub-samples have been estimated and presented in order to enable a wider interpretation of the results. In addition the two left-most columns include the additional control variable of municipality costs.

TABLE 1. OLS RESULTS

Dependent variable:	1994-2013	2000-2013	2005-2013	2000-2013 With expenses	2005-2013 With expenses
Employment level	(a)	(b)	(c)	(d)	(e)
Taxes	0.0044	-0.0085122	-0.0433558***	-0.0011637	-0.0321641***
	(5.54e-06)	(0.00604)	(0.0061863)	(0.006354)	(0.0064585)
Young	1.98e-06	0.000016*	0.0000442***	0.0000117	0.0000286***
	(0.00001)	(8.30e-06)	(0.0000104)	(7.69e-06)	(9.83e-06)
Old	0.0000241***	0.0000174***	0.0000122***	0.0000214***	0.0000257***
	(5.64e-06)	(3.06e-06)	(3.47e-06)	(4.06e-06)	(4.89e-06)
Work-age	5.54e-06**	-3.70e-06	-0.000016***	-2.29e-06	-0.0000127***
	(2.31e-06)	(3.17e-06)	(4.51e-06)	(3.20e-06)	(4.66e-06)
Municipality expenses				-4.82e-07 (2.29e-07)	-1.58e-06*** (2.61e-07)
Adjusted R ²	0.4791	0.5663	0.6624	0.5459	0.7350

Coefficients are followed by standard errors in brackets. ***, **, * indicate the significance levels 0.01, 0.05 and 0.1 respectively. The estimates have time and individual fixed effects.

The results for the complete time-series suggest that the labour taxation rate has no significant impact on the employment level. As for the control variables the amount of old residents along with the working-age population level has a significant but rather negligible impact on the employment level. These somewhat bewildering results suggest that the time series is suffering from one or several structural breaks which as a result called for the estimation of the following sub-samples. The results are however not completely unanticipated as the time series covers data from the 1990's during the Swedish crises, which expectedly results in difficulties in measuring labour market outcomes.

The first sub-sample is presented in column b and column d and accounts for the years 2000-2013. Here, the labour taxation rate is found to have a slightly negative impact, though still insignificant. However the adjusted R² has risen marginally from the former 0.4791 to 0.5663 and 0.5459 respectively.

The last sub-sample consists of the years 2005-2013 and is presented in column c and column e. In these estimations the labour taxation rate is found to have a negative impact on the employment level with a 0.01 significance level. A one unit increase in the labour taxation rate is therefore associated with a decrease in the employment level with a 4.34 and 3.22 percent correspondingly.

In regards to the control variables, these are found to be highly significant but with an incredibly small effect. The inclusion of the variable of municipality costs raises the adjusted R² from 0.6624 (column c) to 0.7350 (column e).

Nonetheless, the OLS estimations are still probably suffering from bias and are thus inconsistent owing to endogeneity and can therefore not be assumed to represent the actual relationships and effects. However the OLS estimations are still of large interest and provide useful comparisons to the upcoming instrumental variables approach.

6.2 FIRST STAGE RESULTS

The results from the first stage estimation, equation (2) is presented in Table 2 below. The assumed endogenous variable, Taxes, is here regressed upon the instrumental variable, AVG_Taxes .

TABLE 2. FIRST STAGE RESULTS

	Dependent variable: taxes	
AVG_Taxes	0.9532***	
	(0.0105)	
Number of observations	5640	
F-Statistic	31.52	

Coefficient is followed by standard errors in brackets. *** indicates the significance level 0.01.

As can be deducted from Table 2, there is a significant and positive relationship between the average neighboring labour taxation rate and the municipalities own labour taxation rate. To qualify for the use of the IV estimator, one important requirement must be fulfilled, that is, a strong first stage. Therefore the two tax rates must have a strong correlation or else the estimations may suffer from severe bias among other things (Wooldridge, 2009).

To determine whether or not the instrument is strong enough, (Staiger & Stock, 1997) require the F-statistic of the first stage to be above ten. Otherwise, the risk of using a weak instrument is far too great. The result demonstrates that the obtained F-statistic in the first stage has a value of 31.52 which clearly exceeds the milestone of ten. This value suggests that the use of the chosen instrumental variable, AVG_Taxes , is satisfactory and can thus be viewed as being a strong instrument.

6.3 SECOND STAGE RESULTS

In TABLE 3 below, the results for the estimations of the second stage Equation 3 can be viewed. Parallel to the OLS model, sub-sample regressions have been made in addition to the complete time series. Columns (d) and (e) represent the equation including the additional control variable of municipality costs.

TABLE 3. SECOND STAGE RESULTS

	1994-2013	2000-2013	2005-2013	2000-2013	2005-2013
	(a)	(b)	(c)	With expenses (d)	With expenses (e)
Taxes	0.0032059**	-0.0171546***	-0.0911012***	-0.0005503	-0.0786773***
	(0.0013127)	(0.0049312)	(0.0087734)	(0.0077905)	(0.0092797)
Young	1.67e-06	0.0000148***	0.0000356***	0.0000117***	0.0000249***
	(2.11e-06)	(2.74e-06)	(5.47e-06)	(2.79e-06)	(5.36e-06)
Old	0.0000243***	0.0000179***	9.73e-06***	0.0000214***	0.0000199***
	(1.05e-06)	(1.26e-06)	(2.01e-06)	(1.52e-06)	(2.50e-06)
Work-age	5.61e-06***	-3.38e-06***	-0.0000128***	-2.28e-06**	-0.0000106***
	(7.43e-07)	(1.09e-06)	(2.38e-06)	(1.11e-06)	(2.30e-06)
Municipality costs				-4.91e-07*** (1.34e-07)	-1.16e-06*** (1.61e-07)
Adjusted R ²	0.4795	0.5711	0.5237	0.5452	0.6269

Coefficients are followed by standard errors in brackets. ***, **, * indicate the significance levels 0.01, 0.05 and 0.1 respectively. The estimates have time and individual fixed effects.

Similar to the obtained OLS results, columns (a), (b) and column (d) illustrate a slightly positive as well as slightly negative significant effect of the labour taxation rate on the employment level. This result strengthens the suspicion of the time-series suffering from a structural break. The sub-sample in column (c) does now have a taxation coefficient

almost twice the size of the corresponding OLS coefficient. When adding the additional control variable of municipality costs, the taxation coefficient reduces slightly from -0.091 to -0.079. The adjusted R² on the other hand rises from 0.5237 to 0.6269. The preferred instrumental variable specification therefore seems to be the shorter time-series in column (e) resembling the preferred OLS specification. A mutual difference for all subsamples and regressions is that the OLS model underestimates the correlation between the labour taxation rate and the employment level.

Although the taxation coefficient in specification (d) remain insignificant in the IVmodel, the first two specifications in column (a) and column (b) become significant at the 5 and 1 per cent significance levels compared to the previous insignificant results.

The control variables are found to have very negligible effects on the employment level and are significant at the 1 and 5 per cent significance levels expect for the variable "young" in specification (a).

6.4 ROBUSTNESS

6. 4. 1 Unit root

When using panel data models it is important to perform unit root tests to check for the presence of unit roots. If there is such a presence, the data suffers from non-stationarity and can cause difficulties in statistical inference. When performing the unit root tests on this data-set, the test by Harris-Tzavalis is considered the most appropriate as it assumes that the number of panels tend to infinity whereas the number of time periods is fixed (STATA n.d). Consequently, this test is suitable for a data-set with a large amount of panels. In addition to the Harris-Tzavalis unit root test, two more tests have been made to explore the results further and also to be used in the case of uncertainty, namely the Levin, Lin & Chu test and the Fisher ADF test.

The result from the unit root tests can be seen in Table 4 below.

TABLE 4. UNIT ROOT TESTS

Variables	Method	Statistics	Probability	Observations	Stationary
	Levin, Lin & Chu	-50.5993	0.0000	2538	Yes
Employment	Harris-Tzavalis	-5.4128	0.0000	2538	Yes
level	Fisher-ADF	-11.2133	0.0000	2538	Yes
	Levin, Lin & Chu	-1.6738	0.0471	2538	Yes
AVG_Taxes	Harris-Tzavalis	-1.7117	0.0435	2538	Yes
11 / О_ Тилсо	Fisher-ADF	-2.0184	0.0218	2538	Yes
	Levin, Lin & Chu	-21.7117	0.0000	2538	Yes
Taxes	Harris-Tzavalis	-3.3270	0.0004	2538	Yes
1 44100	Fisher-ADF	1.3697	0.9146	2538	No
	Levin, Lin & Chu	-44.7280	0.0000	2538	Yes
Old	Harris-Tzavalis	12.2589	1.0000	2538	No
	Fisher-ADF	-8.3235	0.0000	2538	Yes
	Levin, Lin & Chu	-35.5626	0.0000	2538	Yes
Young	Harris-Tzavalis	0.4359	1.0000	2538	No
C	Fisher-ADF	-5.7269	0.0000	2538	Yes
	Levin, Lin & Chu	-28.9133	0.0000	2538	Yes
Work-age	Harris-Tzavalis	7.7410	1.0000	2538	No
	Fisher-ADF	-2.0374	0.0208	2538	Yes
	Levin, Lin & Chu	-46.4580	0.0000	2538	Yes
Municipality	Harris-Tzavalis	-6.5250	0.0000	2538	Yes
expenses	Fisher-ADF	-7.3712	0.0000	2538	Yes

The Harris-Tzavalis tests suggest that the variables "Old", "Young" and "Work-age" suffer from a unit root and thus are non-stationary. However, the other two tests suggest that these variables are indeed stationary. The Fisher-ADF test displays that the variable "Taxes" has a unit root while the Harris-Tzavalis and the Levin, Lin & Chu tests suggest otherwise.

6. 4. 2 Hausman test

To ensure that the fixed effects model is the appropriate model for this study, a Hausman test was performed. The Hausman test has a null hypothesis that the preferred model has random effects and that the alternative hypothesis has fixed effects. When performing this specification test on my data set, a P-value of 0.0000 was obtained, clearly rejecting the null hypothesis of using a random effects model. As a result, the choice of using a fixed effects model is validated by the Hausman specification test.

7. DISCUSSION

7.1 General Discussion

The main theory of income taxation having a negative impact on employment was confirmed in this study, both in the regular OLS model as well as in the Instrumental Variable model.

When using the complete time series the results were surprisingly unexpected. In the OLS model, the income taxation rate did not have a significant effect on the employment level and was even slightly positive. The IV model showed significance at the 5 per cent level; however the results were yet again slightly positive. Clearly, these results were quite unanticipated.

When dividing the sample into smaller time periods the effect started moving in a more intuitional direction. This undoubtedly raised the suspicion of the complete time series suffering from a structural break. Owing to the STATA edition used, no formal structural break test was available to perform. Nonetheless, there are still reasons to believe that a break actually does exist.

One of the reasons is attributable to the financial crisis followed by the housing bubble that Sweden experienced in the early 1990s (Englund, 1999). During this period the unemployment level relatively sky-rocketed in addition to several other financial variables moving in extreme directions (Statistics Sweden, 2005). In a financial situation resembling this state, the employment level is not as susceptible to alterations in the income taxation rate. Nonetheless, as the economy slowly recovered the relationship between income taxation and employment became easier to measure.

This paper chose to use an Instrumental Variables model to estimate the effect that the income taxation rate has on employment and hence dispose of the endogeneity issues. A key part for the Instrumental Variable model to be unbiased and effective is by the use of a strong instrument. With an F-statistic of 31.52 the chosen instrument met this expectation and was therefore seen as a valid instrument to further the analysis with.

The results from the second stage suggest that the impact of income taxation on employment has been massively underestimated compared to the regular OLS model. For the preferred specification in column (e) in both Table 1 and Table 3, the effect

increases from -0.0321641*** to -0.0786773***, which is more than twice the size. This increase is aligned with the hypothesis of the OLS model suffering from downward bias due to reverse causality. As policy makers have been targeting high unemployment levels by altering the income taxation rate, regular OLS models are not able to capture the full impact that income taxation has on the employment. These results suggest that measures taken by policymakers actually have a much stronger effect than previously thought.

The use of the Instrumental Variable approach in this framework has displayed that there in fact is potential endogeneity within taxation variables that has to be considered when performing this type of analysis. In the case of Sweden there is a clear reason to believe that the taxation schedule is endogenous after having implemented several income taxation policies with the goal of reducing unemployment.

The IV model seems to be reasonably fitting for the Swedish municipalities but there is no reason to believe that this method is not suitable for other countries as well. Nevertheless the issue with reverse causality might not be completely absent by the use of the instrument in this study. If there for instance exists a correlation between changes in employment levels across municipalities then the issue still remains.

The results of this study are in accordance with the few previous studies made in a similar manner. (Lehmann et al, 2013) also find that the OLS results tend to underestimate the relationship of the effects that labour taxation have on the employment and unemployment.

7.2 IMPLICATIONS FOR POLICYMAKERS

As the results of this study suggest, the estimated effect of the income taxation rate on the employment level has been underestimated when not including measures against the endogeneity problems. The results from the Instrumental Variable model demonstrate that the effect is almost twice the size of the regular OLS results.

These results are of great significance to policymakers as it is essential for them to understand the entire impact that the policy alteration makes. A change in the income taxation rate can now be interpreted and assumed to have a greater effect on the

employment level than previously assumed. This can further be interpreted in two main directions depending on which political belonging one belongs to. Either one infers these results as a confirmation that the remedy towards unemployment is to lower the income taxation rate.

However, probably most important of all is to not forget about the complete picture within policy-making. As we all know, one cannot simply rely on policy-actions only using one instrument to reach one goal. There are several policies working in different directions and targeting different groups at once.

There are also other factors affecting the labour supply of individuals that are not affected by taxes, some of which are individuals' differences in skills, motivation and health (Rosen, 1979).

For that reason, my hopes with this study is to solely build within the already existing field of research and to further understand the complete impact that the income taxation rate has on the employment level in Sweden.

7.3 TIME-LINE CONSIDERATIONS

This paper used a time series of 21 years of annual data which can be considered enough to make this type of analysis; though an increase in the time-series might also result in more robust results. However, as there were suspicions of structural breaks within the entire time series, the reduced time period was almost certainly able to tell more of the story.

7.4 SAMPLE SIZE AND VARIABLES

The sample size was relatively large with a panel of 283 municipalities over the time range of 21 years. The variables that were controlled for were the amount of old, young, workage people and the municipality expenses. It would have been preferred to control for the political standing of the municipalities. However, due to the lack in data within the chosen time frame this variable was excluded in addition to other reasons.

8. CONCLUSION

This study argues that labour taxation has an employment-reducing effect. To investigate to which extent the size of this effect is, the potential endogeneity of the taxation variables has been taken into account.

The effect of income taxation on the employment level was empirically tested using a panel data of 283 Swedish municipalities over the time period of 1993-2013. This study proposes that the consideration of reverse causality within the taxation framework is of upmost importance and the significance of managing these issues within future research to obtain unbiased results.

This paper chose to cope with the endogeneity issues by the means of an Instrumental Variable model. The theoretical assumption of municipalities competing for workers using the income taxation rate worked as a base for the choice of instrument, where an average tax rate was computed for all the neighbouring municipalities for each municipality. The results suggest that the income taxation rate has a negative significant impact on the employment level. When accounting for the endogeneity in the Instrumental Variable model, the results suggest that the negative impact grows to almost twice the size compared to the regular OLS results, suggesting an immense underestimated effect. These results are in accordance with the theoretical framework as well as the small amount of previous studies within this area.

9.1 SUGGESTED IMPROVEMENTS FOR SIMILAR STUDIES

This study proceeded from the theory of the endogeneity of taxation, and acts as an attempt to plot the Swedish labour market and its integration to the financial market. However, the inclusion of other financial variables apart from the income taxation rate has not been considered furthermore in the model. This is of course an issue, as there are additional variables that might be thought of as appropriate to include. One of which is the political standing of the municipalities. Given that the municipalities are independent and self-ruling with different politics, one might expect that whether the municipality is right- or leftwing, there is an effect on the tax schedule which in turn affects employment. Further studies within this area could put added emphasis on this aspect and include some measurement corresponding to the political standing of the municipalities. It is commonly supposed that right-wing politics are in support of lowering taxes in order to stimulate employment.

Relating to the theory of the labour supply of women and young people being more elastic than the average labour supply, a further analysis and sub-sampling of these two groups would be highly interesting to study. This would enable an additional analysis of which groups that are more sensitive to tax reforms. These results can thereafter be used as tools for policymakers who might make these sub-groups targets for future policy actions.

9.2 OTHER AREAS OF STUDY

In the midst of the topic of taxes and the relationship to employment, one might be interested in developing this research area by focusing solely on the effects that tax progressivity have on employment.

This study attempted to build on the existing research concerning the endogeneity of taxation and dealt with the endogeneity problems with the use of an instrumental variables approach. In this case, the neighboring municipalities' tax schedules acted as instruments. Continuing this path would be interesting of several reasons. Firstly, as it still

is a widely un-researched area there are spread opinions regarding the endogeneity at all. In this case it would benefit the existing research with more studies to enable stronger conclusions.

Second, if the endogeneity issues are established within this framework, studies can focus on discovering and launching better instruments. Or on the other hand, future studies can put effort into determining additional ways of dealing with the endogeneity of taxation.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Azmat, G. (2014), "Evaluating the effectiveness of in-work tax credits", *Empirical Economics 2014*, 46, DOI 10.1007/s00181-012-0678-x ,pp. 397-425. Available Online:

http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.ludwig.lub.lu.se/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=13&sid=51d861d1-7397-4fe2-8f63-2acd3f92e631%40sessionmgr4001&hid=4202 [Accessed 2 June 2015]

Bascle, G., (2008), "Controlling for endogeneity with instrumental variables in strategic management research", *SAGE Publication Strategic Organization 2008*; 6; 285 DOI: 10.1177/1476127008094339 pp. 285-327. Available Online:

http://soq.sagepub.com/content/6/3/285.abstract [Accessed 1 August 2015]

Blundell, R., MaCurdy, T., (1999) "Labor Supply: A Review of Alternative Approaches." *Handbook of Labor Economics*, Volume 3A, edited by Orley Ashenfelter and David Card, Amsterdam: North Holland.

Dolenc, P., Laporsek, S. (2010), "Tax wedge on labour and its effect on employment growth in the European union", *Prague Economic Papers*, 4. pp 344-357. Available Online: http://www.fm-kp.si/zalozba/ISSN/1581-6311/10 301-318.pdf [Accessed 5 April 2015]

Duncan, D., Peter, K. S. (2008), "Tax progressivity and income inequality", Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA), pp. 2-30, Available Online:

http://poseidon01.ssrn.com/delivery.php?ID=902066029110125003089024120103094072097006058033 028058068073015065002076087072028092057052021031061034047026107004008083116104029038092 085053126120116067097069011000013077002028012083113111020114088095096102108101081126114 071087012001098111122112113&EXT=pdf [Accessed 5 April 2015]

Englund, P. (1999), "The Swedish Banking Crises: Roots and Consequences", Oxford Review of Economic Policy Volume: 15 Issue: 3, p.80-97.

Faria, J. R., (2004), "The effects of taxes on labour in a dynamic efficiency wage model", *The Japanese Economic Review* Vol. 55, No. 3, pp. 286-296. Available Online:

http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.ludwig.lub.lu.se/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=9&sid=51d861d1-7397-4fe2-8f63-2acd3f92e631%40sessionmgr4001&hid=4202. [Accessed 1 August 2015]

Government of Canada, (2015), "Working income tax benefit (WITB)", Canada Revenue Agency, Available Online: http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/bnfts/wtb/menu-eng.html [Accessed 1 August 2015]

Grassmueck, G. (2011), "What Drives Intra-county Migration: The Impact Of Local Fiscal Factors on Tiebout Sorting", Review Of Regional Studies, 41, pp 119-138

Rutkowski, J. & Walewski, M. (2007). Fiscal policy and Economic Growth: Lessons for Eastern Europe and Central Asia, *World Bank Publications*, pp. 281-313, Edited by: Gray, C. W., Lane, T., Varoudakis, A. Available

Online: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTECA/Resources/257896-1182288383968/FiscalPolicy&EconomicGrowthinECA_FullReport.pdf [Accessed 5 May 2015]

Hamad, R., Rehkopf, D.H., (2015), "Poverty, Pregnancy and Birth Outcomes: A study of the earned income tax credit", *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology* 2015, 29, pp. 444-452. Available Online: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ludwig.lub.lu.se/doi/10.1111/ppe.12211/epdf [Accessed 16 August 2015]

Kennedy P. (2008), A Guide to Econometrics 6th edition, Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell

Lehmann, E., Lucifora, C., Moriconi, S. & Van der Linden, B. (2013). Beyond the Labour Income Tax Wedge: The Unemployment-Reducing Effect of Tax Progressivity, *CESIFO WORKING PAPER* NO. 4348.

Mojsoska-Blazevski, N., (2012)," Taxation of labour: the effect of labour taxes and costs on employment in Macedonia", *Post-Communist Economies Volume*: 24 Issue: 2 (2012-06-01) pp.241-256. ISSN: 1463-1377, pp.241-256. Available Online:

http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.ludwig.lub.lu.se/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?sid=8b3cfbba-3eb8-444d-b1ea-cf534b4c2724%40sessionmgr4001&vid=1&hid=4202 [Accessed 1 August 2015]

Nickell, S. (2003), "Employment and Taxes", CESIFO Working Paper No. 1109, pp. 1-10. Available Online: http://www.cesifo-group.de/ifoHome/publications/working-papers/CESifoWP/CESifoWPdetails?wp_id=14559663 [Accessed 5 May 2015]

OECD (2006), OECD Employment Outlook: Boosting Jobs and Incomes. Paris: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development.

OECD (2015), Tax wedge (indicator). doi: 10.1787/cea9eba3-en, Available from: https://data.oecd.org/tax/tax-wedge.htm [Accessed 5 May 2015]

Pencavel, J. (1986), "Labor Supply of Men." *Handbook of Labor Economics*, Volume 1:5, edited by Orley Ashenfelter and Richard Layard. Amsterdam: North Holland, pp. 3–102.

Pissarides, C.A., (1998), "The impact of employment tax cuts on unemployment and wages; The role of unemployment benefits and tax structure", *European Economic Review* Volume 42, Issue 1, pp. 155-183. Available Online: http://www.sciencedirect.com.ludwig.lub.lu.se/science/article/pii/S0014292197000901 [Accessed 1 August 2015]

Regeringens proposition (2006/07:1), Budgetpropositionen 2007, Förslag till statsbudget för 2007, finansplan, skattefrågor och tilläggsbudget m.m. p 136. Available from:

http://www4.skatteverket.se/download/18.6dfa5e4914d46831ad52f72/1432891889646/prop.+2006+07 +1+del+1.pdf [Accessed 3 July 2015]

Rosen, H. S., (1979), "What is labor supply and do taxes affect it?", Working paper no. 411, National Bureau of Economic Research, pp. 1-11. Available Online:

http://www.nber.org/papers/w0411 [Accessed 1 August 2015]

Rutkowski, J. & Walewski, M. (2007). Fiscal policy and Economic Growth: Lessons for Eastern Europe and Central Asia, *World Bank Publications*, pp. 281-313, Edited by: Gray, C. W., Lane, T., Varoudakis, A. Available Online:

http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTECA/Resources/257896-

1182288383968/FiscalPolicy&EconomicGrowthinECA_FullReport.pdf [Accessed 5 May 2015]

Staiger, D. & Stock, J.H. (1997). Instrumental Variables Regression with Weak Instruments, *Econometrica*, vol. 65, no. 3, pp.557-586, Available from:

http://www.econ.brown.edu/fac/Frank Kleibergen/ec266/staigerstock1997.pdf [Accessed 1 June 2015]

Pestel, N., Sommer, E. (1993), Shifting Taxes from Labor to Consumption: Efficient, but Regressive?, Discussion Paper No. 7804 The Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA), pp. 1-35

Statistics Sweden, (2005), Sysselsättning och arbetslöshet 1976-2004, Avdelningen för arbetsmarknadsoch utbildningsstatistik. Available from:

http://www.scb.se/statistik/am/am0401/sysselsattning och arbetsloshet 1975-2004.pdf [Accessed 1 August 2015]

Statistics Sweden, Population Statistics.

http://www.scb.se/en/Finding-statistics/Statistics-by-subject-area/Population/Population-composition/Population-statistics/ [Accessed 20 April 2015]

Statistics Sweden, The Swedish Occupational Register with Statistics.

http://www.scb.se/en/Finding-statistics/Statistics-by-subject-area/Labour-market/Employment-and-working-hours/The-Swedish-Occupational-Register-with-statistics/ [Accessed 20 April 2015]

STATA (n. d), Panel-data unit root tests. Available from:

http://www.stata.com/features/overview/panel-data-unit-root-tests/[Accessed 9 June 2015]

Verbeek M. (2012), A Guide to Modern Econometrics 4th edition, John Wiley & Sons

Vodopivec, M. (2005), Income Support for the Unemployed. Issues and Options. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Williams, R. (2015), Panel Data 4: Fixed Effects vs Random Effects Models, University of Notre Dame, Available from:

https://www3.nd.edu/~rwilliam/stats3/Panel04-FixedVsRandom.pdf [Accessed 20 May 2015]

Wooldridge, J. (2009). Introductory Econometrics: A modern approach, 4th edition, Mason, OH: South-Western, Cengage Learning